

The World's Largest Open Access Agricultural & Applied Economics Digital Library

# This document is discoverable and free to researchers across the globe due to the work of AgEcon Search.

Help ensure our sustainability.

Give to AgEcon Search

AgEcon Search http://ageconsearch.umn.edu aesearch@umn.edu

Papers downloaded from **AgEcon Search** may be used for non-commercial purposes and personal study only. No other use, including posting to another Internet site, is permitted without permission from the copyright owner (not AgEcon Search), or as allowed under the provisions of Fair Use, U.S. Copyright Act, Title 17 U.S.C.



# Influence of nutrition-sensitive interventions on dietary profiles of smallholder farming households in East and Southern Africa

RESEARCH

SERIES

by

Marian Amaka Odenigbo Patience Elabor-Idemudia Nigatu Regassa Geda The IFAD Research Series has been initiated by the Strategy and Knowledge Department in order to bring together cutting-edge thinking and research on smallholder agriculture, rural development and related themes. As a global organization with an exclusive mandate to promote rural smallholder development, IFAD seeks to present diverse viewpoints from across the development arena in order to stimulate knowledge exchange, innovation, and commitment to investing in rural people.

The opinions expressed in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of the International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD). The designations employed and the presentation of material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of IFAD concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. The designations "developed" and "developing" countries are intended for statistical convenience and do not necessarily express a judgement about the stage reached in the development process by a particular country or area.

This publication or any part thereof may be reproduced for non-commercial purposes without prior permission from IFAD, provided that the publication or extract therefrom reproduced is attributed to IFAD and the title of this publication is stated in any publication and that a copy thereof is sent to IFAD.

#### Authors:

Marian Amaka Odenigbo, Patience Elabor-Idemudia, Nigatu Regassa Geda

© IFAD 2018 All rights reserved

ISBN 978-92-9072-808-5 Printed May 2018



Influence of nutrition-sensitive interventions on dietary profiles of smallholder farming households in East and Southern Africa

by

Marian Amaka Odenigbo Patience Elabor-Idemudia Nigatu Regassa Geda



# Acknowledgements

This research is funded by the International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD) with the objective of mapping the nutrition-sensitive interventions in selected IFAD-supported projects in East and Southern African (ESA) countries. We are grateful to the Economic Advisory Team in the ESA Division, IFAD, for their guidance throughout the entire process of the study. Special appreciation is due to Sana Jatta, Director, ESA, who provided constant leadership in ensuring successful completion of the study. Our appreciation also goes to the lead regional economist, ESA, and the IFAD country offices in Kenya, Mozambique and Zambia. The views expressed in this publication are not necessarily those of IFAD.

#### About the authors

Marian Amaka Odenigbo is a registered nutritionist and Senior Technical Specialist on Nutrition at IFAD. In her previous role as the Special Adviser on Nutrition-Sensitive Agriculture in ESA, she undertook a regional approach to nutrition mainstreaming in development investments; led and strengthened ESA portfolios on nutrition-sensitive agriculture and rural development and contributed to knowledge product development and advocacy for nutrition-sensitive agriculture. Prior to joining IFAD, she was a research associate and visiting scholar at McGill University, Montreal, Canada, where she managed the nutrition component in a multinational rice post-harvest project on enhancing food security in sub-Saharan Africa. Her PhD degree from the University of Nigeria, Nsukka, focused on community health nutrition, food consumption patterns, assessment of nutritional values and glycaemic indices of traditional foods. She explored local, neglected and underutilized foods in the management of diabetes mellitus and metabolic diseases in Nigeria. Her experience as a senior lecturer at the University of Agriculture, Umudike, Nigeria, involved lecturing, research and supervision of undergraduate and postgraduate students. She has published a number of research articles in peer-reviewed international journals.

**Patience Elabor-Idemudia** is a Professor of Sociology at the University of Saskatchewan, Canada, where she has been teaching and researching since 1995. Her teaching and research works have ranged in focus from gender justice, human trafficking, development studies, violence against women, and immigrant women in Canada to food security in Ethiopia, Kenya, Mozambique and Zambia. In addition, she has done consulting work for the United Nations International Labour Organization, IFAD, the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, the Bread for the World Institute, New York, and the Canadian Research Institute for the Advancement of Women. She has also served on the boards of several Canadian NGOs, including the Saskatchewan Intercultural Association, Open Door Society, Saskatoon, and several other associations. Her published works have focused on women's rights – specifically, minority women in the academy, immigrant women and victims of trafficking in Australia, Canada and West Africa. Elabor-Idemudia's published works include articles in peer-reviewed journals, monographs, book chapters, technical reports and over 50 conference presentations.

Nigatu Regassa Geda is a senior researcher at the College of Nutrition and Pharmacy, University of Saskatchewan. He was previously Professor of Demography/Population Studies at Hawassa University, Ethiopia (1996-2014). His main research interests include, but are not limited to, food security, nutrition-sensitive agriculture, the population/environment nexus, human fertility and mortality, migration, gender and reproductive health issues. He has published close to 50 multidisciplinary research articles as both sole and co-author in peer-reviewed and international journals, and participates actively in several international and local research projects of both academic and practical value.

Oversight: Paul Winters, Associate Vice-President, ad interim, Strategy and Knowledge Department, and Director, Research and Impact Assessment Division.

Advisory Board: Fabrizio Bresciani, Shirley Chinien, Edward Heinemann, Bruce Murphy, Richard Pelrine, Lauren Phillips, Paolo Silveri and Abdelkarim Sma.

Editorial Management Team: Rui Benfica, Helen Gillman and Anja Lesa.

# Table of contents

Acknowledgements
Abstract
1 Introduction
2 Data sources and methodology
2.1 Data sources and design
2.2 Sampling techniques
2.3 Data collection
2.4 Data analysis
3 Results
3.1 Respondents' characteristics
3.2 Dietary profiles
3.3 Nutrition-sensitive activities and perceived benefits
3.4 Influence of project interventions on dietary diversity – multivariate analyses
4 Discussion
5 Conclusions
References

# Abstract

This study was conducted to explore the influence of nutrition-sensitive interventions on dietary profiles of beneficiaries in the agriculture and rural development projects funded by the International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD). Dietary profiles were assessed based on primary data collected from a sample of five projects in three countries of East and Southern Africa (ESA). The methodology adopted 'purposive sampling' guided by the project investment themes: agribusiness (Zambia); dairy (Kenya); productivity promotion (Zambia); rural marketing (Mozambique); and natural resource management (Kenya). Quantitative data were collected from 402 rural smallholder farming households. Dietary diversity was measured at both household (household dietary diversity score [HDDS]) and individual levels (minimum dietary diversity for women [MDD-W] and minimum dietary diversity for children [MDD-C]). The multiple classification analysis (MCA) model was used to relate key project interventions as variables affecting dietary diversity profiles.

Study findings indicate that the projects have diverse nutrition-related production activities, ranging from training to provision of inputs and services, including labour- and energy-saving technologies. Creating access to markets was reported as an important intervention by a significant number of beneficiaries. A significant proportion of respondents in two specific projects reported receiving nutrition education, food demonstrations, and training in cooking, recipe development and kitchen gardening. The study found that good dietary diversity was higher at the household level (63.7-97.3 per cent), compared with minimum dietary diversity for children (1.2-47.6 per cent) and for women (22.5-63.5 per cent). Over 30 per cent of women in all projects had a poor dietary profile (consumption of less than five food groups). The situation was even worse for children, with over 50 per cent having a poor dietary profile (consumption of fewer than four food groups).

Multivariate analysis revealed that the mean dietary diversity score is a function of project-related factors, sociodemographic and economic variables (p<0.05). The HDDS varied significantly according to diversification services, market linkages, women's empowerment, capacity-building and literacy status. For MDD-W, household size, women's empowerment and diversification were strong determinant factors, while capacity-building had the most influence on MDD-C. This study confirmed that agricultural and rural development investments in food production and household income growth have many opportunities to positively influence dietary profiles. However, there is a need to integrate planned, continuous nutrition interventions that target behavioural changes in the consumption patterns of nutritionally-at-risk populations.

# 1 Introduction

While some regions have recorded remarkable progress towards food security and eradicating malnutrition, progress in sub-Saharan Africa has been worryingly slow. A total of 156 million of the world's children are stunted, of whom 37 per cent are in Africa; 42 million are overweight with 25 per cent in Africa; and 50 million are wasted with 28 per cent in Africa (UNICEF/WHO/ World Bank Group 2016). In most countries in East and Southern Africa (ESA), the level of malnutrition remains critical, particularly among poor rural communities. According to the Global Nutrition Report (2016), the burden of stunting and iron and vitamin A deficiency rates are of great concern in Burundi (57.5, 44.6 and 27.9 per cent, respectively); Madagascar (49.2, 68.3 and 42.1 per cent); Malawi (47.8, 62.5 and 59.2 per cent); Mozambique (43.1, 68.7 and 68.8 per cent); and Zambia (40.1, 52.95 and 54.1 per cent).

To address the burden of malnutrition, present in multiple forms, the international community is accelerating its activities. The last few years have witnessed tremendous efforts to implement global visions and strategies, and to mobilize resources and commitments towards eliminating hunger and significantly reducing malnutrition. These include adoption of the 17 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), the World Health Assembly targets (2025), the Scaling-Up Nutrition Movement (SUN 2012), the Zero Hunger vision, and the Second International Conference on Nutrition (ICN2). The SDG commitment proposes to end poverty, protect the planet and ensure prosperity for all as a new 2030 Sustainable Development Agenda.

Despite these commitments and efforts, multiple forms of malnutrition are increasingly found coexisting within the same country or household or even in the same individual, because a person can suffer from more than one type of malnutrition. Two billion people are affected by one or more micronutrient deficiencies. Among the adult population of 5 billion, nearly 2 billion are overweight/obese. This trend has resulted in the progressive use of multisectoral approaches and innovations to harness the potentials of agriculture for good nutrition (FAO 2012). There is growing interest among development partner organizations, both national and international, in making the agriculture sector more nutrition sensitive in response to the growing need to increase the volume of food production and reduce malnutrition (World Bank 2013).

IFAD is actively promoting the nutrition-sensitive agriculture agenda, which is aligned with a principal objective of the Fund's founding agreement: "... improving the nutritional level of the poorest populations in developing countries". In addition, the IFAD Strategic Framework 2016-2025 states a corporate commitment to nutrition. IFAD's presence in all countries committed to the SUN Movement puts the Fund in an advantageous position to dialogue with governments and relevant stakeholders to ensure mainstreaming of nutrition in

development investments. IFAD (2015) identifies two initiatives to make investments more nutrition sensitive: (i) integration of nutrition considerations and indicators into the existing elements of a programme/project to promote nutrition (e.g. a typical project component, such as enhancing production, will use a new technology or pursue a new goal, such as the use of a nutrient-dense food variety or species); or (ii) adding nutrition-promoting activities to the project itself (i.e. a complementary activity, such as nutrition education or 'behaviour change communication', will likely enable the project to promote improved dietary intake).

As an approach to ascertaining the effects of interventions in nutrition-sensitive agriculture on the improved dietary profile of smallholder farming communities, IFAD conducted a study in three ESA countries: Kenya, Mozambique and Zambia (IFAD 2016). This study relates the possible impacts of key project interventions (such as women's empowerment, production diversification, market access, income generation, capacity-building and integrated nutrition activities) as variables that explain dietary diversity among project beneficiaries.

Most previous similar studies in Africa and developing countries have focused on the relationship between dietary diversity and individual/household sociodemographic characteristics (Taruvinga, Muchenje and Mushunje 2013; Ihab et al. 2013; Brinkman et al. 2010). Factors such as women's participation in decision-making (Patel et al. 2012), headship (i.e. position of being the head) (Taruvinga, Muchenje and Mushunje 2013) and degree of purchasing power (Ihab et al. 2013) are some factors reported. Income and educational level are more-frequently reported factors impacting dietary diversity. For instance, Brinkman et al. (2010) reported that families with more income and resources had a more-diversified diet.

On the other hand, studies addressing the impacts of nutrition-sensitive agricultural interventions on the dietary intake of rural smallholder farmers – at both household and individual levels – are relatively scarce. Previous studies have considered dietary diversity at the household level, which overlooked the possible differential effects of intervention activities on women's and children's dietary profiles. Thus this study collected data from five IFAD-funded projects in three countries to analyse the impacts of production diversity and other nutrition-sensitive interventions on the dietary diversity of households, women and children.

# 2 Data sources and methodology

#### 2.1 Data sources and design

This study began with a desk review of 37 IFAD-funded projects in the ESA region. The projects were validated using project documents such as: country strategic opportunities programmes (COSOPs); project design, supervision, project completion, portfolio review and impact assessment reports; and country programme evaluations. The study used a cross-sectional survey design, and 'purposive sampling' was adopted to select the countries and projects for data collection. Selection was based on intervention focus, project goals, development objectives and key nutrition activities. Consideration was given to projects in advanced implementation (i.e. projects approved in or after 2015 were not included).

Data were generated from five projects (box 1) in three countries: Kenya – Upper Tana Catchment Natural Resource Management Project (UTaNRMP) and Smallholder Dairy Commercialization Programme (SDCP); Mozambique – Rural Markets Promotion Programme (PROMER); Zambia – Smallholder Productivity Promotion Programme (S3P) and Smallholder Agribusiness Promotion Programme (SAPP).

#### 2.2 Sampling techniques

The sample size was determined by a population-based formula developed by Cochran (1977). The computed sample size was 150 households (including contingency) for each country. Disproportionate (equal) sampling was then used to allocate the computed size across projects to allow for variations in the number of beneficiary households under each individual project. The procedure of selecting eligible households started with a random selection of representative villages/districts from each project area, followed by selection of beneficiary households using simple random sampling techniques.

#### 2.3 Data collection

Structured checklists and survey questionnaires were used to collect data from beneficiaries and stakeholders. The dietary diversity score (DDS) was used to measure dietary profiles at household and individual levels (women and children). The FAO<sup>1</sup> guidelines for measuring dietary diversity were used in creating the dietary profile measures (FAO 2012; FAO 2016). Different lists of food groups were used to compute the DDS for households (household dietary diversity score – HDDS); for women of reproductive age (minimum dietary diversity for children – MDD-W); and for children (minimum dietary diversity for children – MDD-C).

Differences in the number of food groups used in constructing the HDDS, MDD-W and MDD-C reflect the different objectives of the measures. For instance, the HDDS represents a household's socio-economic level, while the MDD-W is a proxy of nutritional quality among

<sup>1.</sup> Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.

#### Box 1

#### S3P (Zambia): 2011-2018

**Project goal**: To sustainably improve income levels and food and nutrition security among poor agricultural households in the programme area.

• Investment focus: Productivity promotion

#### SAPP (Zambia): 2009-2017

**Project goal**: To increase the income levels of poor rural households involved in production, value addition and trade in agricultural commodities.

Investment focus: Agribusiness/value-chain development

#### UTaNRMP (Kenya): 2012-2020

Project goal: To contribute to rural poverty reduction in the Upper Tana River catchment.

• Investment focus: Natural resources

#### SDCP (Kenya): 2006-2019

**Project goal**: To increase the incomes of poor rural households whose livelihoods depend substantially on the production of, and trade in, dairy products.

• Investment focus: Dairy commercialization

#### PROMER (Mozambique): 2009-2018

**Project goal**: To improve the livelihoods of poor rural households by increasing their incomes from agricultural activities.

• Investment focus: Rural marketing

women of reproductive age. The HDDS was computed using 12 food groups. A good HDDS means an intake of five or more groups, while an intake of four groups or less is classified as a poor HDDS. The MDD-W was computed with only 10 food groups; an intake of at least five groups is rated good, while fewer than five is considered poor. For the MDD-C, seven food groups were used, with an intake of four or more rated good, while fewer than four is considered poor. Examples of the food items contained in each group are illustrated in box 2.

#### 2.4 Data analysis

Once the required data were collected, quantitative data were input into the Statistical Package for Social Science (SPSS) computer program. Analysis began with extraction of information from the desk review, followed by analysis of the quantitative and qualitative data. The quantitative section of the study employed various statistical techniques, ranging from simple tabulation to multivariate regression analysis.

The patterns and determinants of dietary diversity for households, women and children were evaluated through multivariate analysis. The HDDS, MDD-W and MDD-C were used as dependent variables in the analysis, while eight predictors were included in the model. Regression analysis was employed to identify the influence on dietary diversity scores of key project activities (such as women's empowerment activities, market linkage services, capacity-building activities and other covariates).

Source: IFAD project design reports, available at https://login.ifad.org/login.

Multiple classification analysis (MCA) is one of the techniques of multivariate data analysis commonly employed to examine the contribution of each category of the predetermined predictor variables before and after adjustment for controlling variables. It is an ordinary linear multivariate regression model consisting of the nominal variables (n) as dummies. MCA is a technique for analysing interrelationships among several predictor variables and a dependent variable within the context of an additive model. The predictors in an MCA can be measured in either ordinal or nominal scale. The dependent variable has to be either in an interval scale or in a dichotomous category.

The MCA model has various advantages over traditional regression models. The first key feature of MCA technique is its ability to show the effect of each predictor on the dependent variable both before and after taking into account the effects of all other variables. Second, the importance of the MCA model lies in the fact that the predictors are always treated as sets of classes or categories, and thus it does not matter whether a particular set represents a nominal scale (categorical), an ordinal scale (ranking) or an interval scale (classes of a numerical variable). Third, the MCA model is known for its salient features of solving the problem of multicollinearity, which arises from predictor variables being correlated, and/or the problem of non-linear relationships, which are adequately handled. The model can be expressed in simple terms as:  $Y_{ijklw}=\dot{\alpha} + a_i + b_j + c_k + d_1 + e_{ijklw'}$  where  $\dot{\alpha}$ =general effect and a,b,c,d..n are effects of the categories of the respective independent variables. The MCA procedure provides figures and estimates for each predictor. It provides estimates of the 'unadjusted' and 'adjusted' effects of each independent variable on the response variable. The unadjusted effect (deviation) of a particular category of a ( $a_i$  for example) is equal to the mean value of *Y* among those belonging to category 1 of *a*, minus the overall mean of *Y* values of 1.

Box 2 Foo	od groups used to com	npute the DDS for h	nouseholds, childrer	n and women
Food group	os	Household=12	Women=10	Children=7
AB .	Cereals	~		
* S	Roots and white tubers	~	All starchy staples	All starchy staples
B	Beans and peas	~	~	
$\heartsuit$	Nuts and seeds	~	~	· •
Ū	All dairy products	~	<ul> <li>Image: A second s</li></ul>	~
$\bigcirc$	Flesh foods (meat, poultry, organ meats)	~	~	
$\bigotimes$	Fish and seafood	<ul> <li>Image: A second s</li></ul>	~	
0	Eggs	~	~	~
$\mathbf{\nabla}$	Vitamin A-rich (dark green leafy vegetables)		<ul> <li></li> </ul>	
$\Diamond$	Other vitamin A-rich (vegetables and fruits)		~	· •
	Other fruits	And vitamin A-rich fruits	~	
0	Other vegetables	And vitamin A-rich vegetables	~	· •
Ð	Oils and fats	~		
$\heartsuit$	Non-alcoholic beverages and sweets	~		
	Miscellaneous (tea, coffee, spices, condiments)	~		

Source: Adapted from FAO guidelines for measuring dietary diversity (FAO 2012, 2016).

# 3 Results

#### 3.1 Respondents' characteristics

Table 1 presents the background characteristics of the 402 rural smallholder farming households involved in the study. The educational status showed that a larger proportion of respondents in all projects have completed at least primary-level education, while relatively more illiteracy was reported from the PROMER and SAPP (25 per cent each). A higher proportion of respondents were self-employed in the UTaNRMP, SDCP and S3P (62.8, 74.4 and 77.8 per cent, respectively). The PROMER had the highest proportion of unemployed domestic workers (52 per cent), followed by the UTaNRMP (30.8 per cent) and SDCP (24.3 per cent). This magnitude of unemployment could be associated with the respondents' indicative low level of education. Distribution of respondents by household size showed that more than 90 per cent of households in the PROMER, S3P and SAPP had large family sizes (7 or more). The percentages for the UTaNRMP and SDCP were still quite significant at 68 and 72 per cent, respectively. Average household sizes ranging from 3.5 to 6.22 are consistent with the national average household size (in Kenya 4.4, Zambia 4.8 and Mozambique 4.5).

Larger landholdings per household (>2 hectares) were reported among respondents in the PROMER (46.1 per cent) and S3P (54 per cent), while a larger proportion of respondents in the SAPP and UTaNRMP were reported to be landless (61 and 21 per cent). The percentages of households with 1-2 hectares were greater for the SDCP and S3P (32.4 per cent and 28.6 per cent, respectively). The respondents' household headship distribution shows that fewer than 20 per cent of households in each project were headed by women (HHW). The S3P had the smallest proportion of HHW, at under 8 per cent. Households' wealth status was computed from commonly available lists of household assets: electricity, radio, bicycle, sewing machine, cart, kerosene, cell phone and lamp. The computed values were further categorized into poor, medium and better-off wealth status. The percentage distribution in table 1 indicates that the PROMER, S3P and SAPP constituted relatively larger proportions of poor households at 60.8, 52.4 and 34.1 per cent, respectively. This finding is consistent with the low levels of education and unemployment among these groups of respondents.

Table 1 Percentage distribution of respondents by sociodemographic characteristics and project types (n=402  $^{\rm a}$ )

Variable	Project name					
	PROMER	UTaNRMP	SDCP	S3P	SAPP	
	(n=102)	(n=78)	(n=74)	(n=63)	(n=85)	
Educational status						
Elementary level (1-6)	51.5	6.4	10.8	20.6	16.5	
Junior (7-8)	20.8	37.2	24.3	44.4	28.2	
Secondary (9-12)	2.0	37.2	44.6	31.7	24.7	
College	1.0	9.0	17.6	0	5.9	
None <sup>b</sup>	24.8	10.3	2.7	3.2	24.7	
Employment status						
Self-employed	12.7	62.8	74.3	77.8	0	
Paid contract worker	1.0	6.4	0	0	0	
Unemployed domestic worker	52.0	30.8	24.3	0	0	
Unemployed	34.3	0	1.4	22.2	0	
Household size						
≤3 members	1.0	15.4	8.1	0	1.2	
4-6 members	3.9	16.7	20.3	3.2	2.4	
≥7 members	95.1	67.9	71.6	96.8	96.4	
Land size						
Landless	0	20.5	1.4	3.2	61.2	
<1 hectare	27.5	51.3	40.5	14.3	9.4	
1-2 hectares	26.5	17.9	32.4	28.6	10.6	
>2 hectares	46.1	10.3	25.7	54.0	18.8	
Household headship						
Women	13.7	16.7	18.9	7.9	17.6	
Men	86.3	83.3	81.1	92.1	82.4	
Wealth index <sup>c</sup>						
Poor (0-3 assets)	60.8	3.8	4.1	52.4	34.1	
Better-off (4-6 assets)	39.2	84.6	87.8	47.6	63.5	
Rich (≥7 assets)	0	11.6	8.1	0	2.4	

<sup>a</sup> Number of households that provided responses.

<sup>b</sup> No formal schooling and non-responses.

° Wealth index based on nine different household assets.

Source: Based on survey data collected in the field.

#### 3.2 Dietary profiles

The results in table 2 represent dietary profiles at household and individual (women and children) levels. Household data were collected from 402 respondents, and as all households had female members of reproductive age (15-49 years), a total of 402 responses were also collected for MDD-W. The total number of respondent children (through their mothers) for MDD-C was 227, distributed by project as follows: PROMER=88; UTaNRMP=18; SDCP=22; S3P=46; SAPP=53.

The HDDS shows generally better results compared with the MDD-C and MDD-W. A smaller proportion of respondents had poor dietary diversity at the household level: the UTaNRMP, SDCP and S3P showed proportions of 9.0, 2.7 and 0 per cent, respectively. On the other hand, the proportion of poor dietary diversity at individual levels was high in all projects. Women with a poor MDD-W (<5 food groups) represent more than 30 per cent. The proportion becomes even worse for children across all projects: 50 per cent had <4 food groups. The SAPP and UTaNRMP showed higher proportions of poor MDD-C (at 99 and 87 per cent, respectively).

#### 3.3 Nutrition-sensitive activities and perceived benefits

Table 3 shows project nutrition-sensitive interventions, which refer to the interdependent relationships that connect project activities and nutrition at household and individual levels. The study showed that integrated nutrition-focused activities, as well as key project investment activities – such as production diversification, women's empowerment, commercialization and good markets – were reported to have indirect effects on dietary profiles. Although some projects were just beginning to implement the integrated nutrition-focused activities, an attempt was made to collect data on beneficiaries' perceptions of the changes brought about by these projects.

Variable	Project name						
	PROMER (n=102)	UTaNRMP (n=78)	SDCP (n=74)	S3P (n=63)	SAPP (n=85)		
Household dietary diversity sco	re (HDDS)						
Poor diet diversity (DDS <4)	36.3	9.0	2.7	0	30.6		
Good diet diversity (DDS 5-8)	44.1	76.9	58.1	0	65.9		
Very good diet diversity (DDS >8)	19.6	14.1	39.2	100.0	3.5		
Minimum dietary diversity for women (MDD-W)							
Poor diet diversity (DDS <5)	77.5	66.7	36.5	41.3	67.1		
Good diet diversity (DDS ≥5)	22.5	33.3	63.5	58.7	32.9		
Minimum dietary diversity for children 6-23 months (MDD-C)							
Poor diet diversity (DDS <4)	67.6	87.2	83.8	52.4	98.8		
Good diet diversity (DDS ≥4)	32.4	12.8	16.2	47.6	1.2		

 Table 2 Percentage distribution of respondents by dietary diversity score for households, women and children

Source: Based on survey data collected in the field.

Changes influenced by project		Pı	roject name		
	PROMER (n=101)	UTaNRMP (n=78)	SDCP (n=74)	S3P (n=62)	SAPP (n=20)
Production and diversification	83.3	97.4	90.5	96.8	12.5
Commercialization and marketing	78.4	53.8	62.2	93.5	0
Household food-security profile	66.7	91.0	93.2	88.7	12.5
Maternal and child nutritional status	71.6	53.8	24.3	83.9	0
Women's empowerment	58.8	50.0	71.6	88.7	12.5
Savings practices and income generation	64.7	83.3	87.8	90.3	12.5
Knowledge of health and nutrition	71.6	50.0	17.6	85.5	12.5
Training events on food preparation and recipe development	61.8	30.8	20.3	82.3	0

Table 3 Nutrition-sensitive interventions since project implementation (n=335)<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Total number of respondents/households.

Source: Based on survey data collected in the field.

# 3.4 Influence of project interventions on dietary diversity – multivariate analyses

The three MCA tables below provide: Eta ( $\eta$ ), which indicates the ability of a predictor, using the categories given, to explain variations in the dependent variable; Eta squared ( $\eta^2$ ), which is the correlation ratio indicating the proportion of the total sum of squares explainable by the predictor; Beta and Beta squared ( $\beta$  and  $\beta^2$ ), which are directly analogous to the Eta statistics, but are based on the adjusted means rather than the raw means, and provide a measure of the ability of the predictor to explain variation in the dependent variable after adjusting for the effects of all other predictors. Thus heterogeneity within the data is controlled, but other possible factors existing outside the data cannot be controlled in this study. The multiple correlation coefficient squared (unadjusted for degree of freedom) indicates the proportion of variance explained by the whole model, and the multiple correlation coefficient squared ( $R^2$  – adjusted for degree of freedom) indicates the proportion of variance in the dependent variable explained by all predictors. The study included eight best-fitting predictors for each of the three groups (household, women and children) based on a review of the literature.

The eight predictor factors used as determinants of the dietary diversity score are: household size, literacy status, headship, women's empowerment, asset/wealth index, capacity-building, market linkages and diversification support services.

MCA results showed that diversification support services had the greatest absolute influence on dietary diversity among households. The HDDS obtained for households reporting a greater number of such services was 9.15, compared with 6.21 for households with fewer services. It also varied significantly according to market linkages, women's empowerment, capacity-building and literacy status. A household head with literate status had a significantly 
 Table 4 Results of multiple classification analysis (MCA) for key determinants of the household dietary diversity score (HDDS) by selected predictors and covariates (n=398)

Variable	Mean DDS					
	n	Unadjusted mean	<b>Eta (ή)</b>	Adjusted mean	Beta (β)	Sig
Household size			.067		.099	.329
0-3 members	16	6.25		5.77		
4-6 members	36	7.36		7.19		
7 and above members	346	7.24		7.28		
Literacy status of respondents			.158		.084	.000ª
Literate	300	7.48		7.35		
Illiterate	98	6.39		6.77		
Headship			.099		.011	.055
Women	57	6.49		7.13		
Men	341	7.33		7.22		
Wealth index (asset-based)			.100		.072	.615
Poor	30	6.30		6.62		
Medium	39	6.85		6.86		
Better-off	329	7.33		7.30		
Capacity-building activities			.290		.049	.000ª
Low	137	6.17		7.17		
Medium	108	7.15		7.02		
High	153	8.18		7.38		
Market linkage services provided			.362		.266	.000ª
Low market linkages	123	5.76		6.14		
Good market linkages	144	7.33		7.30		
Very good market linkages	131	8.44		8.11		
Women's empowerment services			.169		.248	.050 <sup>b</sup>
Very poor	212	6.78		7.82		
Mild	79	7.33		6.93		
Moderate	45	8.02		6.72		-
High	62	7.92		5.82		
Diversification support services			.392		.348	.000ª
Very poor	159	5.99		6.21		
Mild	116	7.27		7.10		
Moderate	70	8.37		8.18		
High	53	9.19		9.15		

R=0.48; R<sup>2</sup>=0.23; grand mean=7.21; number of cases=398.

 $^{\rm a}$  Significant at  $\acute{\alpha}$  .001;  $^{\rm b}$  significant at  $\acute{\alpha}$  .05.

Source: Based on survey data collected in the field.

higher HDDS (7.35) compared with an illiterate head (6.77). Households receiving more capacity-building services had a better HDDS than those with fewer services. Similarly, a higher HDDS was found among households reporting very good market linkage services than among those without such services (8.11 and 6.14, respectively). This finding is consistent with the reported low employment and educational status among respondents in the PROMER and SAPP and their relatively higher proportions of poor dietary diversity at the household level (36 and 31 per cent, respectively – see table 2).

In the MDD-W category (table 5), there are far more predictors affecting the DDS, including household size (probability [p]=0.000), literacy status (p=0.000), wealth index (p=0.040), capacity-building activities (p=0.052), market linkages provided (p=0.003), women's empowerment services (0.011) and diversification support services (0.001). Taking the beta ( $\beta$ ) coefficients as indicators, literacy and household size are the strongest predictors compared with the other five predictors included in the model. Larger-sized households (7 or more members) have a significantly higher mean DDS (4.95) compared with medium-sized and small households (1.67 and 1.08, respectively). Those with illiterate household heads had a mean DDS of 3.39 compared with literate household heads (4.86). In terms of the asset-based wealth index, richer households had an adjusted mean DDS of 4.69, whereas poor households' mean score was 3.49. Households receiving very good market linkage services had a mean DDS of 4.86 compared with those with fewer services. Similarly, those households receiving more diversification support services had a higher mean DDS (5.93) compared with those with very poor (4.83), mild (4.28) and moderate services (3.03).

Mean scores for the MDD-C category are generally very low across all variables (table 6). Five variables seem to predict the dependent variable of interest: household size (p=0.000), headship (p=0.029), wealth index (p=0.024), capacity-building activities (p=0.000) and market linkages provided (p=0.003). Having a larger-sized household is still the marker of a better mean DDS, where those with 7 or more household members had an adjusted mean score of 2.0 compared with medium- and small-sized households (0.64 and 0.90, respectively). The adjusted mean score for headship by women was 0.99, while the computed mean for headship by men was 1.89. Similarly, those households receiving better services in women's empowerment and market linkages had a higher adjusted mean score compared with those receiving fewer services.

**Table 5** Results of multiple classification analysis (MCA) for the key determinants of the women's minimum dietary diversity score (MDD-W) by selected predictors and covariates (n=398)

Variable	Mean DDS					
	n	Unadjusted mean	Eta (ή)	Adjusted mean	Beta (β)	Sig
Household size			.275		.285	.000ª
0-3 members	16	.8750		1.08		
4-6 members	36	1.9444		1.67		
7 and above members	346	4.9335		4.95		
Literacy status of respondents			.170		.154	.000ª
Literate	300	4.9000		4.86		
Illiterate	98	3.2755		3.39		
Headship			.065		.027	.527
Women	57	3.8421		4.22		
Men	341	4.6100		4.55		
Wealth index (asset-based)			.136		.101	.040 <sup>b</sup>
Poor	30	2.9667		3.49		
Medium	39	3.5641		3.67		
Better-off	329	4.7508		4.69		
Capacity-building activities			.116		.153	.052 <sup>b</sup>
Low	137	5.1168		3.94		
Medium	108	3.9259		4.21		
High	153	4.3529		5.35		
Market linkage services provided			.185		.065	.003°
Low market linkages	123	4.9919		4.43		
Good market linkages	144	3.4931		4.23		
Very good market linkages	131	5.1450		4.86		
Women's empowerment services			.158		.169	.011 <sup>b</sup>
Very poor	212	4.3208		4.06		
Mild	79	3.6582		4.14		
Moderate	45	5.6889		5.86		
High	62	5.3226		5.47		
Diversification support services			.265		.205	.001°
Very poor	159	4.9371		4.83		
Mild	116	3.8017		4.28		
Moderate	70	3.0571		3.03		
High	53	6.6226		5.93		
Constant						.000

R=0.47; R<sup>2</sup>=0 .22; grand mean=4.52; number of cases=398.

 $^{\rm a}$  Significant at  $\acute{\alpha}$  .001;  $^{\rm b}$  significant at  $\acute{\alpha}$  .05;  $^{\rm c}$  significant at  $\acute{\alpha}$  .01.

Source: Based on survey data collected in the field.

 Table 6 Results of multiple classification analysis (MCA) for the key determinants of the children's minimum dietary diversity score (MDD-C) by selected predictors and covariates (n=398)

Variable			Mean DD	S		
	n	Unadjusted mean	<b>Eta (ή)</b>	Adjusted mean	Beta (β)	Sig
Household size			.213		183	.000ª
0-3 members	20	.00		.64		
4-6 members	36	.028		.90		
7 and above members	346	2.04		2.00		
Literacy status of respondents			.024		.031	.372
Literate	304	1.81		1.82		
Illiterate	98	1.62		1.58		
Headship			.134		.099	.029 <sup>b</sup>
Women	61	.72		.99		
Men	341	1.95		1.89		
Wealth index (asset-based)			.128		.121	.024 <sup>b</sup>
Poor	130	2.33		2.29		
Medium	255	1.54		1.56		
Better-off	17	.76		2.47		
Capacity-building activities			.325		.216	.000ª
Low	138	.62		.88		
Medium	109	1.37		1.76		
High	155	3.06		2.54		
Market linkage services provided			.280		.191	.003°
Low market linkages	124	.73		1.06		
Good market linkages	145	1.51		1.59		
Very good market linkages	133	2.99		2.60		
Women's empowerment services			.244		.105	.127
Very poor	213	1.23		1.81		
Mild	80	1.38		1.18		
Moderate	46	3.02		2.41		
High	63	3.11		1.86		
Diversification support services			255		.097	.382
Very poor	161	1.12		2.04		
Mild	117	1.44		1.46		
Moderate	71	2.38		1.37		
High	53	3.58		2.10		

R=0.45; R<sup>2</sup>=0.20; grand mean=2.17.

 $^{\rm a}$  Significant at  $\acute{\alpha}$  .001;  $^{\rm b}$  significant at  $\acute{\alpha}$  .05;  $^{\rm c}$  significant at  $\acute{\alpha}$  .01.

Source: Based on survey data collected in the field.

### 4 Discussion

This study has primarily aimed to explore influencing factors in IFAD-funded projects on dietary profiles at household and individual levels, based on data collected from five projects in three countries. It is not an impact evaluation, but the reported findings on dietary profile can suggest the likelihood and potential effect of project interventions on beneficiaries' dietary intake.

Dietary diversity is considered a key outcome of nutrition-sensitive agriculture. It was adopted to measure the influence of project interventions on the dietary profile, which has implications for nutrition outcomes for project beneficiaries. Changes/improvement in dietary diversity were measured at individual (women of reproductive age and children) and household levels.

Notably, this study found that dietary diversity among women and children is generally low, with only a small proportion consuming the acceptable number of food groups ( $\geq$ 5 food groups for MMD-W and  $\geq$ 4 food groups for MDD-C). The implications of this finding are twofold. First, it indicates that there are intrahousehold differences in food access. Second, it may also imply that poor dietary diversity may in the long run result in more-complex nutritional outcomes, especially during conception and pregnancy and up to the second birthday (the first 1,000 most-critical days). In most cases, especially in the context of poor rural farming communities, children and their mothers do not have the same meal composition (Amugsi, Mittelmark and Oduro 2015; Skafida 2013). Recent studies in African communities reported substantial differences in intrahousehold food distribution (Tsegaye et al. 2015), which translate into some household members having better access to specific food items than others. The findings suggest that programmes of this kind should use separate output and outcome measures for the two groups to gauge the envisaged changes that such interventions bring to households and vulnerable individuals.

Multivariate analysis adopted the MCA model to present the key project interventions as variables explaining dietary diversity among project beneficiaries. A simple trickle-down approach was assumed in this analysis, through the perception of mutual relationships between nutrition and agriculture at household and individual levels. A review of the effects of rural agricultural involvement by rural Malawian households adopted a similar simplified trickle-down approach and reported increased food consumption and greater dietary diversity with agricultural involvement (IFAD 2016). The three multivariate analyses taken together revealed that the DDS is a function of household sociodemographic and project intervention factors such as literacy status, household size, headship, wealth index, capacity-building activities, and market linkage and diversification support services.

The analysis indicated that production diversity is strongly associated with the DDS in both the household and women's categories (p=0.000 and p=0.001, respectively). The effects of production on dietary diversity are plausible, because much of what smallholder farmers produce is consumed at home. Previous studies conducted in developing societies also reported that diversifying production on smallholder farms is often perceived as a useful approach to improving dietary diversity and nutrition (Jones, Shrinivas and Bezner-Kerr 2014; Pellegrini and Tasciotti 2014). As was demonstrated in table 3, the most important benefits reported by a great majority of beneficiaries were increased productivity and diversification. Most projects work through changing supply and demand and reducing the cost of food commodities for the poor, including nutritious foods, as shown in the SDCP. In addition, production raises household income relatively for net consumer households by reducing food prices, which literally improves access to food. Beneficiaries of the SDCP reported that milk production showed a dramatic increase (perceived as excess at the household level), which resulted in more sales and consequently more purchasing power. Thus households could afford to buy more food that would otherwise have been unaffordable. For example, respondents said they can now afford to buy meat more frequently.

Diversifying production on these farms is often perceived as a promising strategy for improving dietary quality and diversity. Several recent development efforts have promoted smallholder farm production diversification through introducing additional crop and livestock species to improve household diet diversity and nutritional status (Burlingame and Dernini 2012). A cross-section survey of farm households in Ethiopia, Indonesia, Kenya and Malawi documented that higher farm production diversity contributes significantly to dietary diversity in situations where food security is a prime concern (Sibhatu, Krishna and Qaim 2015). However, the results of this study and available evidence indicate that focusing exclusively on agricultural production can only guarantee increased household income and has very limited scope for improving the nutritional profiles of women, children and households.

Project interventions to create market access have witnessed a clear influence on all three DDS categories (household, women and children). This corroborates and supports the notion that better market access through reduced distances could contribute to higher dietary diversity. More-commercialized farms producing cash crops for the market have more-diverse diets than subsistence farms on average. Households with higher cash incomes tend to buy more-diverse foods (Sibhatu, Krishna and Qaim 2015; Jones, Shrinivas and Bezner-Kerr 2014).

The wealth index seems to be an important determinant of DDS for women and children, unlike at the household level, indicating that poverty puts more pressure on these two vulnerable groups than on other family members. Multiple studies in low-income societies have documented the inverse association between poverty and diet diversity (Melgar-Quinonez et al. 2006).

As women's empowerment is observed to be an important determinant of dietary diversity at the household level and among women, it follows that interventions that increase women's empowerment contribute to improving child nutrition as well as women's own well-being. FAO, IFAD and the World Bank report that the goal of feeding the world cannot be realized without the contribution of women, who make up a significant part of the labour force (FAO 2011; World Bank, FAO and IFAD 2009). Similarly, Mosse (1993) emphasized the

significant contribution of women to agriculture and to any development activity. For instance, women who receive capacity-building training and have access to land may have to decide whether to consume produce at home or to sell. Allendorf (2007) has shown that women with access to resources had better decision-making power at household levels and provided better care for children. Within local, national and regional communities, given that there are often specific nutritionally at-risk groups that suffer from insufficient availability of and access to nutritious food, nutrition-sensitive agriculture adopts approaches that recognize the specific vulnerability of these groups (Detlef 2013). This finding may suggest that empowering women by building their knowledge, employment opportunities, land rights and access to resources can further help reduce the gender gap, thus enhancing nutritional outcomes for women and children.

The literacy status of women and the capacity-building activities undertaken by projects appear to have significantly influenced (p<0.05) the diet diversity profiles at all three levels (i.e. households, women and children). These variables have a huge leverage particularly on decision-making and autonomy, which may translate into impact on dietary diversity scores. Previous studies have documented an association of decision-making with minimum meal frequency. In a previous study, children of mothers involved in decision-making in the household were 1.5 times more likely to meet their recommended meal frequency, as compared with children of mothers not involved in decision-making (Patel et al. 2012).

The key message of this analysis is that nutrition-sensitive interventions in agricultural and rural development projects pass through multiple pathways, including market access, capacity-building, active involvement of women and empowerment. A holistic approach involving more than a single sector should be used if an agricultural and rural development project/programme intends to impact the dietary and nutritional profiles of vulnerable groups.

# **5** Conclusions

This paper has examined the current status of agricultural and rural development investment projects and how project interventions trickle down to influence dietary profile at both individual and household levels. It was noted that most of the projects studied have brought about a number of quantitative changes in the lives of beneficiaries in terms of increasing and diversifying agricultural production and household income. The study group takes the position that interventions to support food production and income growth, acquisition of skills through capacity-building and women's empowerment with a nutrition focus provide the major opportunities for a positive influence on the dietary profile of households and their individual members.

Finally, this study is not without limitations. The present analysis is based mainly on data collected from 402 beneficiaries in five case studies, which may reduce its generalizability to all projects in ESA countries. There might have been some self-selection bias and omission and commission errors during data collection. We suggest that future research focus on collecting time series data from more projects to determine their respective changes and impacts.

### References

Allendorf, K. 2007. Do Women's Land Rights Promote Empowerment and Child Health in Nepal? *World Development* 35(11): 1975-1988. doi:10.1016/j.worlddev.2006.12.005.

Amugsi, D., Mittelmark, M. and Oduro, A. 2015. Association between Maternal and Child Dietary Diversity: An Analysis of the Ghana Demographic and Health Survey. *PLoS ONE* 10(8): e0136748. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0136748.

Brinkman, J., de Pee, S., Sanogo, I., Subran, L. and Bloem, M. 2010. High Food Prices and the Global Financial Crisis Have Reduced Access to Nutritious Food and Worsened Nutritional Status and Health. *Journal of Nutrition* 140(1): 153S-161S. doi:10.3945/jn.109.110767.

Burlingame, B. and Dernini, S. 2012. *Sustainable Diets and Biodiversity: Directions and Solutions for Policy, Research and Action.* Rome: FAO and Bioversity International.

Cocharan, W. 1977. Sampling Techniques. New York: Wiley.

Detlef, V. 2013. *Nutrition-Sensitive Agriculture: A Pillar of Improved Nutrition and Better Health.* Stuttgart, Germany: Food Security Center, University of Hohenheim.

FAO. 2011. The State of Food and Agriculture 2010-2011: Women in Agriculture – Closing the Gender Gap for Development. Rome.

FAO. 2012. Guidelines for Measuring Household and Individual Dietary Diversity. Rome. www. fao.org/3/a-i1983e.pdf

FAO. 2016. Minimum Dietary Diversity for Women (MDD-W). Rome. www.fao.org/3/a-i5486e.pdf

IFAD. 2015. Mainstreaming Nutrition-Sensitive Agriculture at IFAD: Action Plan 2016-2018. Rome.

IFAD. 2016. *Mapping Nutrition-Sensitive Interventions in East and Southern Africa (ESA): Kenya, Mozambique and Zambia Main Report and Annexes.* Report No. 4440. Rome.

IFAD. 2017. *Glossary on Gender Issues*. Rome. www.ifad.org/documents/38714170/0/gender\_glossary.pdf

Ihab, A., Rohana, A., Wan Manan, W.M., Wan Suriati, W.N., Zalilah, M. and Rusli, A.M. 2013. Nutritional Outcomes Related to Household Food Insecurity among Mothers in Rural Malaysia. *Journal of Health, Population and Nutrition* 31(4): 480-489.

International Food Policy Research Institute. 2016. *Global Nutrition Report 2016: From Promise to Impact – Ending Malnutrition by 2030*. Washington, D.C. http://globalnutritionreport.org/ the-report

Jones, A.D., Shrinivas, A. and Bezner-Kerr, R. 2014. Farm Production Diversity Is Associated with Greater Household Dietary Diversity in Malawi: Findings from Nationally Representative Data. *Food Policy* 46 (June): 1-12.

Melgar-Quinonez, H.R., Zubieta, A.C., MkNelly, B., Nteziyaremye, A., Gerardo, M.F. and Dunford, C. 2006. Household Food Insecurity and Food Expenditure in Bolivia, Burkina Faso and the Philippines. *Journal of Nutrition* 136(5) (Suppl): 1431S-1437S.

Mosse, J.C. 1993. Half the World, Half a Chance: An Introduction to Gender and Development. Oxford, UK: Oxfam.

Patel, A., Pusdekar, Y., Badhoniya, N., Borkar, J., Agho, K. and Dibley, M. 2012. Determinants of Inappropriate Complementary Feeding Practices in Young Children in India: Secondary Analysis of National Family Health Survey 2005-2006. *Maternal & Child Nutrition* 8(s1): 28-44. doi: 10.1111/j.1740-8709.2011.00385.x.

Pellegrini, L. and Tasciotti, L. 2014. Crop Diversification, Dietary Diversity and Agricultural Income: Empirical Evidence from Eight Developing Countries. *Canadian Journal of Development Studies* 35(2): 211-227.

Sibhatu, K.T., Krishna, V. and Qaim, M. 2015. Production Diversity and Dietary Diversity in Smallholder Farm Households. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 112(34): 10657-10662.

Skafida, V. 2013. The Family Meal Panacea: Exploring How Different Aspects of Family Meal Occurrence, Meal Habits and Meal Enjoyment Relate to Young Children's Diets. *Sociology of Health & Illness* 35(6): 906-923. doi: 10.1111/1467-9566.12007.

SUN. 2012. *Revised Road Map for Scaling Up Nutrition*. Copenhagen, Denmark: Scaling Up Nutrition Movement (hosted by the United Nations Office for Project Services). Copenhagen. www.scalingupnutrition.org

Taruvinga, A., Muchenje, V. and Mushunje, A. 2013. Determinants of Rural Household Dietary Diversity: The Case of Amatole and Nyandeni Districts, South Africa. *International Journal of Development and Sustainability* 2(4): 2233-2247.

Tsegaye, G., Regassa, N., Henry, C. and Elabor-Idemudia, P. 2015. Analysis of Pulse Production and Management Practices from Gender Perspectives: A Study of Four Rural Districts in SNNPR and Oromia Regions of Ethiopia. *Humboldt International Journal of Agriculture, Gender and Development* 1(1): 90-109.

UNICEF/WHO/World Bank Group. 2016. *Levels and Trends in Child Malnutrition: Joint Child Malnutrition Estimates 2016 edition*. New York and Geneva, Switzerland.

World Bank. 2013. Improving Nutrition through Multisectoral Approaches. Washington, D.C.

World Bank, FAO and IFAD. 2009. *Gender in Agriculture: Source Book*. Washington, D.C: International Bank for Reconstruction and Development/World Bank.

#### The IFAD Research Series

01.	Agricultural and rural development reconsidered
	A guide to issues and debates
	By Steve Wiggins
02.	Migration and transformative pathways
	A rural perspective
	By David Suttie, Rosemary Vargas-Lundius
03.	Fostering inclusive outcomes in sub-Saharan African agriculture
	Improving agricultural productivity and expanding agribusiness opportunities
	By David Suttie, Rui Benfica
04.	The effects of smallholder agricultural involvement on household food consumption and
04.	dietary diversity
	Evidence from Malawi
05	By Rui Benfica, Talip Kilic
05.	Rural-urban linkages and food systems in sub-Saharan Africa
	The rural dimension
00	By Karim Hussein, David Suttie
06.	Why food and nutrition security matters for inclusive structural and rural transformation
07	By Steven Were Omamo
07.	Measuring IFAD's impact
	Background paper to the IFAD9 Impact Assessment Initiative
	By Alessandra Garbero
08.	Fostering inclusive rural transformation in fragile states and situations
	By Karim Hussein
09.	Social protection and inclusive rural transformation
	By Carolina Trivelli, Silvana Vargas, Jhonatan Clausen
10.	Inclusive Finance and Inclusive Rural Transformation
	By Calum G. Turvey
11.	Food safety, trade, standards and the integration of smallholders into value chains
	A review of the literature
	By John Humphrey
12.	An evidence-based assessment of IFAD's end of project reporting
	By Bia Carneiro, Alessandra Garbero
13.	Graduation models for rural financial inclusion
	By Khalid El Harizi, Xinjia Yan
14.	Disbursement performance of the International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD)
	An in-depth analysis of drivers and trends
	By Tim Balint, Daniel Higgins, Paola Mallia, Silvana Scalzo, Paul Winters
15.	Remittances, growth and poverty reduction in Asia
	A critical review of the literature and new evidence from cross-country panel data
	By Katsushi S. Imai, Bilal Malaeb, Fabrizio Bresciani
16.	Getting the most out of impact evaluation for learning, reporting and influence
	Insights from piloting a Participatory Impact Assessment and Learning Approach (PIALA) with IFAD
	By Edward Heinemann, Adinda Van Hemelrijck, Irene Guijt
17.	Population age structure and sex composition in sub-Saharan Africa
	A rural-urban perspective
	By Ashira Menashe-Oren, Guy Stecklov

- Do agricultural support and cash transfer programmes improve nutritional status? By Seth R. Gitter, James Manley, Jill Bernstein, Paul Winters
- Measuring women's empowerment in agriculture A streamlined approach By Alessandra Garbero, Emilie Perge
- 20. Transformation and diversification of the rural economy in Asia By Roehlano M. Briones
- 21. Does relative deprivation induce migration? Evidence from sub-Saharan Africa By Kashi Kafle, Rui Benfica, Paul Winters
- 22. Poverty reduction during the rural-urban transformation Rural development is still more important than urbanization By Katsushi S. Imai, Raghav Gaiha, Alessandra Garbero
- 23. The effect of the sectoral composition of economic growth on rural and urban poverty By Rui Benfica, Heath Henderson
- Influence of nutrition-sensitive interventions on dietary profiles of smallholder farming households in East and Southern Africa
   By Marian Amaka Odenigbo, Patience Elabor-Idemudia, Nigatu Regassa Geda



International Fund for Agricultural Development Via Paolo di Dono, 44 - 00142 Rome, Italy Tel: +39 06 54591 - Fax: +39 06 5043463 Email: ifad@ifad.org

www.ifad.org

- B ifad-un.blogspot.com

- indufulibidgspot.com/ifad
   www.facebook.com/ifad
   instagram.com/ifadnews
   www.twitter.com/ifadnews
   www.youtube.com/user/ifadTV

